

Data Exchange SCORE Translation Matrix

Version 3 1 March 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Important considerations in reporting outcomes	4
	2.1 Using instruments that provide valid measures of outcomes	
	2.2 Using instruments to generate information about outcomes	
	2.3 Appropriately translating outcome measures to SCORE	
3.	Validated Instruments	6
	3.1 Child Neglect Index (CNI)	
	3.2 Carers Star (CS)	
	3.3 Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)	
	3.4 Growth Empowerment Measure (GEM)	
	3.5 Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10)	
	3.6 Outcome Rating Scale (ORS)	
	3.7 Parental Empowerment and Efficacy Measure (PEEM)	
	3.8 Personal Wellbeing Index (PWI)	14
	3.9 Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)	15
	3.10 Sessions Rating Scale (SRS)	16
4.	Translation of 'in house' validated instruments for outcome measures	17
	4.1 Template for translating proprietary and in-house instruments	
5.	Translation of self-assessment instruments	19
	5.1 Template for translating self-assessment instruments	20
6.	Version History	21
	Version 3, published March 2019	21
	Version 2, published November 2018	21
	Version 1, published November 2017.	

1. Introduction

1.1 Data Exchange SCORE

An important part of reporting outcomes data to the Data Exchange is the Standard Client/Community Outcomes Reporting (SCORE) framework. SCORE is a methodology for standardised reporting of outcomes data across relevant domains. The SCORE framework allows organisations to measure outcomes flexibly in a consistent and comparable manner using both validated instruments and adapted or developed tools.

1.2 SCORE Translation Matrix

In 2015, the Department of Social Services (DSS) commissioned the Australian Institute of Family Studies (AIFS) to identify the most common instruments that Families and Children activity organisations used to measure outcomes. AIFS reviewed nine instruments for the original Translation Matrix.

DSS committed to review the Translation Matrix to ensure its ongoing relevance for a growing range of program areas that report to the Data Exchange. In 2018, ARTD Consultants undertook a technical review of the instruments presented in the Translation Matrix. In July 2018, organisations were invited to respond to questions raised in a Discussion Paper. The Department received six submissions from organisations and internal feedback from policy and program areas. Additionally, organisations provided feedback and comments through two surveys, email and training sessions.

This Translation Matrix includes both the review findings and the feedback provided by organisations.

2. Important considerations in reporting outcomes

There are several important considerations for organisations in reporting outcomes:

2.1 Using instruments that provide valid measures of outcomes

For most funded programs, organisations have the flexibility to decide how they measure outcomes. This includes using:

- Validated instruments recognised by the academic research community as a valid way to 'measure what it is supposed to measure', e.g. a valid measure of client mental health and wellbeing. Validity is established through academic peer reviews of the instrument.
- In-house instruments developed by organisations without formal validation, but recognised as
 providing a valid measure of a claimed outcome, e.g. rating generated by asking set questions
 about the clients sense of personal safety.
- Self-assessment tools such as client self-reported sense of personal safety rated from one (very poor) to five (very good).

2.2 Using instruments to generate information about outcomes

Instruments often produce a large amount of information – covering context, circumstances and outcomes. All outcome instruments have limits on their intended purpose, scope and application. In reporting outcomes, organisations should ensure they are using their selected outcome measurement instrument as intended.

Most validated instruments provide a specific outcome measure on a standardised scale e.g., a rating for mental health distress that can be interpreted against a scale from extreme distress to normal.

For in-house instruments, organisations determine how the information they collect can be summarised as an outcome measure and the scale used for reporting outcomes.

Complexity arises where the instrument is primarily designed for assessing needs, screening and planning services rather than measuring outcomes. In these cases, care is needed to ensure the data used is a suitable outcome measure and the measurements can be interpreted consistently.

2.3 Appropriately translating outcome measures to SCORE

The Data Exchange provides organisations with flexibility on outcomes measurement through the use of externally validated instruments, internally developed outcomes tools or self-assessment scales. The data is reported as a SCORE on a standard five-point Likert scale: a common scale used in research studies and questionnaires.

Outcome measures need to be translated to the SCORE scale in a consistent and comparable manner, so that the reported outcomes have the same interpretation. The table below offers an example.

Table 1. SCORE Likert Ratings

Rating	Definition	Description
1	Very poor outcomes	Significant negative impact of circumstances on
		wellbeing/no progress in achievement of goals.
2	Poor outcome	Moderate negative impact of circumstances on
		wellbeing/limited progress in achievement of goals
		based on emerging engagement.
3	Moderate outcome	Progress towards improving circumstances on
		wellbeing/some progress in achievement of goals
		based on strong engagement.
4	Good outcome	Adequate short-term improvement in
		circumstances/moderate progress in achievement of
		goals.
5	Very good outcome	Adequate ongoing improvement in circumstances/full
		achievement of goals.

3. Validated Instruments

The instruments listed below have been translated for SCORE in this document. The Data Exchange does not endorse the use of any instrument or outcomes measurement tool, and expects organisations to make decisions based on their professional judgement, organisational approach and any requirements set out in their grant agreements.

The Data Exchange recognises that some organisations may be using instruments that are not listed in the Translation Matrix. This does not mean they are unsuitable for translation. Organisations are encouraged to use the generic template (see Sections 4 and 5) to translate these instruments into SCORE.

The translated instruments are:

- Child Neglect Index (CNI)
- Carers Star (CS)
- Growth Empowerment Measure (GEM)
- Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)
- Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10)
- Outcome Rating Scale (ORS)
- Parenting, Empowerment and Efficacy Measure (PEEM)
- Personal Wellbeing Index (PWI)
- Sessions Rating Scale (SRS)
- Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ).

3.1 Child Neglect Index (CNI)

Table 2. Child Neglect Index

Term Summary	Description							
Background		The CNI provides child welfare practitioners and researchers with a validated and easy-to-use instrument that specifies the type and severity of neglect.						
		•		•	•	erity scale from		
				quate (40-50) to	o seriousiy ina	dequate (60):		
		rvision rating ion rating (0,2						
	Cloth	ing and hygie	ne rating (0,20					
			e rating (0,20, rating (0,20,5					
	Deve	lopmental / ed	ducational care	e rating (0,20,50				
 CNI identifies the type and severity of neglect, and as such is a suitable measure 'before' and 'after' an intervention to measure changes in pers 								
	safety / absence of neglect for children.							
Outcomes	CNI (0 to 60)							
measure								
Valid use of	CNI can be u	sed 'before' a	nd 'after' an in	tervention/servi	ice to measure	e changes in		
outcome	personal and	family safety	for children.					
measure								
Recommended SCORE domain	Personal and	family safety	(SCORE Circ	umstances)				
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5		
SCORE	range							
translation	SCORE	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good		
	descriptor							
	CNI rating	50+	49 to 40	39 to 30	29 to 21	20 to 0		
For more informati		•						
www.researchgate	e.net/Developme	ent_and_Preli	minary_Evalua	ation_of_the_O	ntario_Child_N	Neglect_Index		

3.2 Carers Star (CS)

Table 3. Carers Star

Term Summary	Description						
Background	 Cause for con Getting help (I Making chang Finding what I As good as it I To report outcome CS's five-point sca 	goals, and as a evement of or oven elements caring role; mak/employment five stages the cern (rating = rating = 2) the (rating = 3) the (rating = 2) the (rating = 2) the (rating = 2) the Organisate can be used	an instrument atcomes. that impact the anaging at he at relate to the sational Guided to self-reposit	t to measure and quality of library time for the level of new effort client ration.	and report ife and wel yourself; h ed: Star highlig gs for each	carers Ibeing of now you feel; In the carer	
W	elements, or the n						
Key considerations	CS is a suitable summary measure of change in mental health, wellbeing and self- care for carers. While each of the individual ratings in the seven CS elements are relevant to case planning, only the mean average rating across the seven elements is used for outcomes reporting						
Outcome	Mean average rati		alth rating) +	(CS Caring ro	ole rating)	+ (CS	
measure	Managing at home rating) + (CS Fina	e rating) + (CS	Time for you	urself rating) -		•	
Valid use of	CS can be used "l	pefore" and "a	fter" an interv	ention to me	asure char	nges in mental	
outcome measure	health, wellbeing a	and self-care (SCORE circu	CORE circumstances domain). Technical notes:			
	 If the mean average whole number 	Vork rating is rurement of the seven ele of the eleme r CS ratings dean average rulation must be verage score is rue. 3.6 rourrage rating is or rating is or result to the result of the rule.	ecorded in the Carers Star I ements. In the oes not create adjusted to each of a whole ods up to 4 arexactly halfware.	ne calculation mean average is case, SCO e carer provide a valid SCO wer than seved divide by the number, it is and 3.4 rounds ay between to	as a rating e must income to calculate the must income to care the care to care the care to care the c	g of five. lude data for ulated as the l. urement. Star elements mber of ratings. to the nearest l). humbers then it	
Recommended SCORE domain	Mental health, we	llbeing and se	lf-care (Circu	mstances SC	ORE)		
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5	
SCORE translation	SCORE descriptor	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good	
	Carers Star mean	1	2	3	4	5	
For more informa stars/carers-star/	tion about CS, visit	http://www.ou	tcomesstar.o	rg.uk/using-th	ne-star/see	e-the-	

3.3 Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)

Table 4. Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale

Term Summary	Description					
Background	of emotional of The EPDS is a clinical asse The EPDS ind about the nati	a 10 item self-r distress during not a diagnosti essment. cludes one que ure of any thou ned and referra	pregnancy and c instrument ar stion (Item 10) ghts of self-har	the postnatal and is intended the about suicidal makes is required in	period. to be used in co thoughts. Furtl n order for the	onjunction with her enquiry level of risk
Key considerations	for wo instru than r distre		egnancy and the	ne postnatal pe ompt follow-up	eriod. However, clinical assess	the ments rather
Outcome measure	■ EPDS	3 rating (0-30)				
Valid use of outcome measure	 Caution is recommended in the use of EPDS as an outcomes measurement instrument. EPDS is most relevant for measuring extremely severe distress (SCORE=1/EPDS=13+) and severe distress (SCORE=2/EPDS=12). Caution is needed in interpreting SCORE =3 and 4 as 'positive' outcomes when the EPDS for these ratings translates to 'moderate' or 'mild' distress. Users also need to be aware that any woman who rates 1, 2 or 3 on Q10 (suicidal/self-harm thoughts) requires immediate further evaluation to ensure her own safety and that of her baby. 					
Recommended SCORE domain	Mental health	, wellbeing and	self-care (SC	ORE Circumsta	ances)	
Recommended SCORE	SCORE range	1	2	3	4	5
translation	SCORE descriptor	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good
	EPDS	13+	12	11 to 10	9 to 1	0
For more informat	ion about the E	PDS, visit psyc	chology-tools.c	om/epds/	•	•

3.4 Growth Empowerment Measure (GEM)

Table 5. Growth Empowerment Measure (GEM)

Term Summary	Description						
Background	The GEM measures changes in emotional wellbeing and dimensions of empowerment important to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. It was developed as a tool to measure the process and outcomes of empowerment and for evaluating interventions, such as the Family Well Being program, that aim to increase empowerment. It seeks to measure people's perspective of their psychosocial well-being and empowerment at individual, family, organisational and structural levels'. The measure works well with programs that use empowerment approaches. GEM comprises the Emotional Empowerment Scale (EES14) and Scenarios. The EES14 measures 14 items of empowerment and wellbeing using a 5-point scale. Each of the Scenarios measures empowerment processes using a 7-point scale. There are 12 scenarios, 6 of which are core. One of the GEM components may be translated into SCORE:						
Key considerations	 One of the GEM components may be translated into SCORE: It is appropriate to translate mean scores of the EES14 into the Mental health, wellbeing and self-care Circumstance domain. The Scenarios are not suitable for translation as they use a 7-point rating scale. 						
Outcome						vention/service	
measure	to measure c	hanges in mer	ital health, we	llbeing and self	-care.		
Valid use of outcome measure Recommended	Circu	ımstance doma	ain of Mental h	s a valid measu nealth, wellbein CORE Circumst	g and self-care		
SCORE domains		-					
Recommended SCORE	SCORE range	1	2	3	4	5	
translation	SCORE descriptor	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good	
	GEM descriptor	I feel like I don't know anything		Half 'n' half		I am knowledgeable about things that are important to me	
	GEM score	1	2	3	4	5	
For more informa					4	5	

¹ Haswell, Melissa R, David Kavanagh, Komla Tsey, Lyndon Reilly, Yvonne Cadet-James, Arlene Laliberte, Andrew Wilson, Chris Doran. 2010. 'Psychometric validation of the Growth and Empowerment Measure (GEM) applied with Indigenous Australians, *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 44:791-799.

3.5 Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10)

Table 6. Kessler Psychological Distress Scale

Term Summary	Description						
Background	outcomes follopublic domain	owing treatment and is promo	ent for commonted on the Cl	psychological dis on mental health inical Research I sure to identify a	disorders. The Jnit for Anxiet	e K10 is in the y and	
		e of the time,		on for each ques time and none of			
	The maximun	•	•	ere distress, the e rated:	minimum ratir	ng is	
	20-24 are25-29 are	•	a mild menta moderate m	al disorder ental disorder ere mental disord	er.		
Key	K10 is a suita	ble outcome r	neasure of ch	nanges in mental	health, wellbe	eing and self-	
considerations	care for adults.						
	As the K10 is severe menta	•	dentify the ne	ed for treatment,	it is most rele	vant to measure	
Outcome	K10 Score (1	0-50)					
measure							
Valid use of	K10 can be u	sed 'before' a	nd 'after' an iı	ntervention to me	asure change	s in mental	
outcome	health, wellbe	ing and self-c	are for adults				
measure	Caution is ne	eded in interp	reting SCORE	E = three and fou	r as 'positive'	outcomes when	
	the K10 rating translates to 'moderate' or 'mild' mental disorder in the instrument.						
	This translation is intended for use with the Australian version of the K10 that uses a						
	one to five rating scale with a total range of 10-50. The rating bands used by the						
	Australian Bureau of Statistics were adopted for the translation.						
	As the K10 is primarily designed to identify the need for treatment, it is most relevant						
	to measuring extremely severe mental disorder (SCORE=1/K10 over 30) and severe						
	mental disorder (SCORE=2/K-10 22-29).						
Recommended	Mental health	, wellbeing an	d self-care (S	CORE Circumst	ances)		
SCORE domain							
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5	
SCORE	range	Ť	<u> </u>		·		
translation	SCORE descriptors	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good	
	K-10	30+	22-29	16-21	11-15	10	
For more informa	ı tion about the k	I <10, visit hcp.i	med.harvard.	edu/ncs/k6 scale	es.php and		

3.6 Outcome Rating Scale (ORS)

Table 7. Outcome Rating Scale

Term Summary	Description							
Background	The ORS is a simple, four-item visual analogue scale designed to assess key							
	dimensions o	f a client's oveı	all wellbeing.	Γhe ORS is adı	ministered, rate	ed and		
	discussed in	casework with	clients.					
	The ORS use	s four visual a	nalogue scales	each 10cm lo	ng to assess the	e clients'		
	perceptions o	f how they are	feeling: individ	ually (Persona	I well-being); in	terpersonally		
	` .	. ,	• • •		dships); and ov	•		
		our dimensions	translates into	a rating out of	10, with a total	rating out		
	of 40.							
	Documentation on the instrument notes that 'the clinical cut-off score is 25, where							
		combined ratings above the clinical cut-off indicate global clinically significant distress.						
	Reliable reduction in symptoms is considered to occur when:							
	The client's rating reduces to below the clinical cut off; and							
	 When there is a five or more points change observed over the course of treatment. 							
	ORS is a licensed instrument and organisations should be aware of any costs in							
	the use of this instrument.							
Outcome	ORS rating (0)-40)						
measure								
Valid use of				tervention/serv	ice to measure	changes in		
outcome	mental health	n, wellbeing and	d self-care.					
measure								
Recommended	Mental health	, wellbeing and	d self-care (SC	ORE Circumst	ances)			
SCORE domain								
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5		
SCORE	range	1			7	3		
translation	SCORE	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good		
	descriptor	very poor	1 001	Moderate	3000	very Good		
	ORS	0 to 12	13 to 18	19 to 24	25 to 30	31 to 40		
For more informa	tion about the C	ORS, visit <u>scott</u>	dmiller.com/the	e-outcome-and	-session-rating-	-scales-		
support-tools/.								

3.7 Parental Empowerment and Efficacy Measure (PEEM)

Table 8. Parental Empowerment and Efficacy Measure

Term Summary Description The PEEM is a freely available, strengths-based measurement instrument in which parents are invited to rate themselves in relation to 20 statements using a 10 point scale from 'this sounds nothing like me' to 'this sounds exactly like me'. PEEM focuses on two main areas of parenting: confidence to be a good parent / carr out parenting responsibilities, and capacity to connect with informal and formal networks. The premise of the instrument is that these two areas of parenting are prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
parents are invited to rate themselves in relation to 20 statements using a 10 point scale from 'this sounds nothing like me' to 'this sounds exactly like me'. PEEM focuses on two main areas of parenting: confidence to be a good parent / carr out parenting responsibilities, and capacity to connect with informal and formal networks. The premise of the instrument is that these two areas of parenting are prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
scale from 'this sounds nothing like me' to 'this sounds exactly like me'. PEEM focuses on two main areas of parenting: confidence to be a good parent / carr out parenting responsibilities, and capacity to connect with informal and formal networks. The premise of the instrument is that these two areas of parenting are prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
PEEM focuses on two main areas of parenting: confidence to be a good parent / carr out parenting responsibilities, and capacity to connect with informal and formal networks. The premise of the instrument is that these two areas of parenting are prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
out parenting responsibilities, and capacity to connect with informal and formal networks. The premise of the instrument is that these two areas of parenting are prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
networks. The premise of the instrument is that these two areas of parenting are prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
prerequisites for good family functioning. In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
In testing and evaluating the instrument with Australian families, a mean PEEM rating
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
454 (4 5000) 31
was 154 (out of 200) with a standard deviation of 24.
Key PEEM is primarily designed to measure parenting practices – rather than a direct
considerations measure of family functioning.
PEEM is a suitable measure of progress in achieving goals related to changed
parenting behaviours (SCORE Goals). The PEEM Goal domain ratings are based
on measuring behaviours compared to above or below the average for the general
population.
Outcome PEEM rating (20 – 200)
measure
Valid use of PEEM can be used 'before' and 'after' an intervention/service to measure progress
outcome in achieving goals related to improved parenting behaviours.
measure
Recommended Changed behaviours (SCORE Goals)
SCORE domain
Recommended SCORE 1 2 3 4 5
SCORE SCORE
translation SCORE descriptor Very poor Poor Moderate Good Very Goo
Very poor Poor Moderate Good Very Goo
translation Very poor Poor Moderate Good Very Goo
translation Very poor Poor Moderate Good Very Good PEEM cut- >2 SD 1-2 SD Mean +/- 1-2 SD >2 SD

3.8 Personal Wellbeing Index (PWI)

Table 9. Personal Wellbeing Index

Term Summary	ellbeing Index Description							
Background		ins seven item	ns of satisfa	action each o	ne correspo	nding to a		
Dackground	The PWI scale contains seven items of satisfaction, each one corresponding to a							
	quality of life item: standard of living, health, achieving in life, relationships, safety, community-connectedness, and future security. These seven items represent the first							
	•			•	•			
	level of deconstructio	_	•		•	· ·		
	a whole?' The PWI ha	•		idated with ac	auits, chilare	en, and persons		
	with an intellectual or	-	-		c	•••		
	The core set of items	•	•	se: How satis	fied are you	with:		
	1. your standard of liv	.	of Living]					
	2. your health [Persor	-						
	3. what you are achie	-	-	-				
	4. your personal relat	ionships [Pers	sonal Relat	ionships]				
	5. how safe you feel [Personal Safe	ety]					
	6. feeling part of your	community [0	Community-	-Connectedne	ess]			
	7. your future security	/ [Future Secւ	ırity].					
	Each of the seven ite	ms can be an	alysed as a	a separate vai	riable, or su	mmed to yield		
	an average rating that represents 'Subjective Wellbeing'.							
	Each item is rated on an 11 point scale from 0 (no satisfaction) to 10 (completely							
	satisfied).							
Key	PWI (individual questions) are suitable measures for SCORE Circumstances domains:							
considerations	- Dhysical boottb D	NAU 00.						
	 Physical health P 		1.05.					
	Personal and famCommunity partic			O6:				
	 Material well-bein 							
Outcome	PWI Q2 (Physical he			1 W 1 Q 1.				
measure	PWI Q5 (Personal ar)-10];				
mododio	PWI Q6 (Community];			
	PWI Q1 (Material we							
Valid use of	PWI (individual quest				an intervent	ion/service to		
outcome	measure changes in	SCORE Circu	ımstances	domains.				
measure								
Recommended	Physical health (PWI	Q2); Persona	I and family	y safety (PWI	Q5); (PWI (Q6); and		
SCORE	Material well-being ar	nd basic nece	ssities (PW	I Q1) (SCOR	E Circumsta	ances)		
domains			•	, ,		•		
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5		
SCORE	SCORE descriptor	Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good		
translation	Physical health	0-1	2-3	4-5	6	7 - 10		
	Personal and family	0.4	0.0	4.5		7 40		
	safety	U-1	2-3	4-5	6	/ - 10		
	Community							
	participation &	0-1	2-3	4-5	6	7 - 10		
	networks							
				1		1 - 40		
	being/basis 0-1 2-3 4-5 6 7 - 10							
	being/basis necessities	0-1	2-3	4-5	6	7 - 10		
SCORE	SCORE descriptor Physical health Personal and family safety Community participation & networks Material well-	Very poor 0-1 0-1 0-1	Poor 2-3 2-3 2-3	Moderate 4-5 4-5 4-5	Good 6 6 6	Very Good 7 - 10 7 - 10 7 - 10		

3.9 Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)

Table 10. Strengths and Difficulty Questionnaire

Term Summary	Description							
Background	The SDQ is a brief beha		• .		-	ung people		
	aged 2-17 years. It cove	rs 25 items o	n psycholog	ical attributes	related to:			
	emotional symptoms	s (5 items)						
	 conduct problems (5 							
	 hyperactivity/inatten 							
	 peer relationship pro 	blems (5 iter	ns) [20 diffic	ulties items]				
	 prosocial behaviour 							
	The data can be collected			•				
	teacher reports. Self-rep				•			
Key	Both the SDQ Total Diffi	culties rating	and the SD0	Q Total Proso	cial rating ar	e suitable		
considerations	outcome measures of ch	nanges in me	ntal health, \	wellbeing and	self-care wh	nen applied		
	as either self-reports (fro	om 11 years a	and above), _l	parent-reports	s or teacher	reports for		
children and young people aged 2-17 years.								
Outcome	SDQ Total Difficulties rating (0-40)							
measure	■ SDQ Total Prosocial rating (0-10).							
Valid use of	The SDQ Total Difficulties rating (0-40) or the SDQ Total Prosocial rating (0-10) can be							
outcome	used 'before' and 'after' an intervention to measure changes in mental health, wellbeing							
measure	and self-care for children	ո and young լ	people aged	2-17 years.				
Recommended	Mental health, wellbeing	and self-care	e (SCORE C	ircumstances	s)			
SCORE domain								
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5		
SCORE	SCORE descriptor					Very		
translation		Very poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Good		
	SDQ difficulties rating							
	(self-reported)	20 to 40	18 to 19	15 to 17	11 to 14	0 to 10		
	SDQ difficulties rating							
	(parent-reported:							
	SCORE support	20 to 40	17 to 19	14 to 16	10 to 13	0 to 9		
	person)							
	SDQ difficulties rating							
	(teacher-reported:							
	SCORE support	19 to 40	16 to 18	12 to 15	8 to 11	0 to 7		
	person)							
	SDQ prosocial rating			1_				
	(self-reported)	0 to 4	5	6	7	8 to 10		
	SDQ prosocial rating	1		1				
	(parent-reported:							
		0 to 5	6	7	8	9 to 10		
	SCORE support							
	SCORE support person)							

3.10 Sessions Rating Scale (SRS)

Table 11. Session Rating Scale

Table 11. Session Term Summary	Description						
Background		simple, four-ite	m visual anal	ogue scale desi	gned to asses	s key	
· ·	dimensions of effective therapeutic relationships. The SRS is administered, rated and						
			•	et real time allia			
	people and ca	rers so that all	iance problem	ns can be identif	fied and addre	ssed.	
			•	he alliance into			
						nding; relevance	
	of the goals a	nd topics; clien	t-practitioner t	it; and overall a	lliance. Each	of the four	
	dimensions tra	anslates into a	rating out of 1	0, with a total ra	ating out of 40		
	Documentatio	n on the instru	ment notes th	at 'based on a t	otal possible r	ating of 40, any	
	rating lower th	an 36 overall,	or 9 on any so	cale, could be a	source of con	cern and	
	therefore it is	prudent to invit	e the client to	comment.			
	Clients tend to	rate all alliand	e measures h	nighly, so the the	erapist should	address any	
suggestion of a problem in order to quickly repair ruptures to the alliance, and make necessary adjustments in therapy to help improve client outcomes.						e, and make the	
	SRS is a licensed instrument and organisations should be aware of any costs in the						
use of this instrument.							
Key	The SRS is pr	imarily designe	ed to measure	the effectivene	ss of therapeu	ıtic	
considerations	relationships.						
	SRS is a suitable measure of progress in achieving goals related to engaging with a						
		support service. However, care is needed in interpreting SRS ratings 30-36					
	_	•	= three or fo	ur) as the interp	retation is still	moderate or	
	mild detachme						
Outcome	SRS rating (0-	-40)					
measure							
Valid use of				ervention to me			
outcome				particular supp	ort service (Cl	nanged	
measure		with support SC		•			
		•	-	res 29-35 (SCC	•		
	36 (SCORE = four) as 'good' outcomes as the interpretation is still moderate or mild						
		ith support ser					
Decemberated	I Changed eng	agement with s	support service	e (SCORE Goal	ls)		
Recommended		9	• •	•			
SCORE domain			· ·	<u> </u>			
SCORE domain Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5	
SCORE domain Recommended SCORE		1	2	3			
SCORE domain Recommended	SCORE SCORE		T	· 	4 Good	5 Very Good	
SCORE domain Recommended SCORE	SCORE	1	2	3			
SCORE domain Recommended SCORE	SCORE SCORE descriptor SRS	1 Very poor 0 to 19	2 Poor 20 to 28	3 Moderate 29 to 35*	Good 36*	Very Good 37 to 40	

4. Translation of 'in house' validated instruments for outcome measures

Using validated instruments provides the ability to strengthen claims about what is being measured – although care is needed to ensure any reported outcomes closely align with the purpose and scope of the instrument used. The instruments translated into SCORE will continue to grow as the Data Exchange identifies instruments and tools for further investigation, in consultation with funded organisations and government policy and program areas.

In-house instruments are often based on extensive practitioner insights tailored to specific delivery contexts. However, care is needed in translating data from these instruments into measures of outcomes. Where in-house instruments are used, organisations may prepare brief summary statements outlining the purpose and scope of the instrument to ensure consistency in its use.

Most of these instruments generate a rating on an outcome scale. Common scales include:

- 0 (no outcomes) 10 (outstanding outcomes) [11 point scale]
- 1 (poor), 2 (somewhat poor), 3 (somewhat good), 4 (good) [4 point scale]
- 1 (very poor) 100 (very good) [centile scale]
- 1 7 [7 point scale].

Important considerations in using these scales (and translating them to SCORE) are:

- 1. Instrument validity. Is the scale a valid measure of a SCORE outcomes domain?
- 2. Scale validity. Can the scale items be interpreted as a very poor, poor, moderate, good, very good outcome?
- 3. Scale cut-offs. Are the cut-off points valid across the client cohorts?

To understand the scope and applicability of these instruments, details should be documented in a standard format. To support the consistent reporting of outcomes, the Data Exchange has developed a generic Translation Matrix template. This option is best suited to organisations that are using their own or validated or adapted instruments.

4.1 Template for translating proprietary and in-house instruments

This template is suitable for organisations that are using their own or proprietary instruments.

Table 12. In-house Instrument Template

Background	<brief and="" description="" design="" instrument="" of="" purpose="" the=""></brief>							
Key	<outline any="" applied="" be="" considerations="" data="" in="" interpreting="" need="" that="" the="" to=""></outline>							
considerations								
Outcome	<list (or="" component="" generated="" measure="" measures)="" outcome="" p="" summary="" the="" through<=""></list>							
measure	the application of the instrument>							
Valid use of	<outline and="" any="" its="" limitations="" measure="" of="" on="" outcome="" the="" use="" valid=""></outline>							
outcome								
measure								
Recommended	<list domain(s)="" relevant="" score="" the=""></list>							
SCORE								
domain(s)								
Recommended	SCORE	1	2	3	4	5		
SCORE translation		Very Poor	Poor	Moderate	Good	Very Good		
translation	Outcome Measure 1 (for SCORE domain)							
	Outcome Measure 2 (for SCORE domain)							

5. Translation of self-assessment instruments

Self-assessment instruments often provide a relatively simple way of directly recording either a client's, advocate's or a practitioner's self-assessment of an outcome. If the collected information is closely aligned to the intended outcome (e.g. do you feel safe in your current living arrangements?), then the outcome data can be interpreted as the self-reported perception of the outcome (e.g. self-reported sense of personal safety).

Important considerations in using self-assessment instruments (and translating them to SCORE) are:

- Clarity of the questions plain English; clear concepts
- Alignment with SCORE domain(s) do the questions closely align with the relevant domain?
- Consistency of scales can the scale items in the question be interpreted as a very poor, poor, moderate, good, very good outcome?
- To understand the appropriateness of these self-assessment instruments, details should be documented in a standard format similar to the template for validated instruments.

5.1 Template for translating self-assessment instruments

To support the consistent reporting of outcomes, the Data Exchange has developed a generic Translation Matrix template. This template is best suited to organisations that do not already have an outcomes reporting model in place or are using in-house outcomes instruments.

Table 13. Self-assessment template

Background	<brief and="" description="" design="" instrument="" of="" purpose="" the=""></brief>								
Key consideration	<outline a<="" td=""><td>any consideration</td><td>ns that need to</td><td>be applied in interp</td><td>reting the dat</td><td>a></td></outline>	any consideration	ns that need to	be applied in interp	reting the dat	a>			
Outcome measure	<list (or="" application="" component="" generated="" instrument="" measure="" measures)="" of="" outcome="" summary="" the="" through=""></list>								
Valid use of outcome measure	<outline t<="" td=""><td>he valid use of th</td><td>ne outcome me</td><td>asure and any limi</td><td>tations on its ι</td><td>ise></td></outline>	he valid use of th	ne outcome me	asure and any limi	tations on its ι	ise>			
Recommend ed SCORE domain(s)	<list domain(s)="" relevant="" score="" the=""></list>								
Recommend ed SCORE translation	SCORE Q1	1 Very poor	2 Poor	3 Moderate	4 Good	5 Very Good			
	Q2								
	Q3								
	Q4								

6. Version History

Version 3, published March 2019

- 1. Revised to add Growth Empowerment Measure (GEM)
- 2. Tables revised make more screen reader accessible.
- 3. Changed Data Exchange logo.
- 4. Small edits to clarify some terms

Version 2, published November 2018

The Department released version 2 of the SCORE Translation Matrix in November 2018 to provide updates on previously translated and new instruments for inclusion, following feedback from organisations.

- 1. Revised content and formatting.
- 2. Introduction of the Carers Star translation.
- 3. Removal of Bringing Up Great Kids (BUGK).
- 4. Clarification and additional detail for remaining instruments.
- 5. Inclusion of self-assessment and proprietary/in-house matrix templates.

Version 1, published November 2017.